No. 71802-9-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

SACIID NADIF,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAN TRASEN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

C.	STATEMENT OF CASE
D.	ARGUMENT
	MR. NADIF'S GUILTY PLEA WAS INVALID, BECAUSE HIS ATTORNEY DID NOT ACCURATELY ADVISE HIM OF THE IMMIGRATION CONSEQUENCES OF HIS PLEA
	counsel where his attorney fails to inform him that he is pleading guilty to a crime which will result in his deportation.8
E.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

<u>In re the Personal Restraint of Riley</u> , 122 Wn.2d 772, 863 P.2d 554 (1993)
In re the Personal Restraint of Cadwallader, 155 Wn.2d 867, 123 P.3d 456 (2005)
State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)
State v. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d 499, 192 P.3d 342 (2008)
State v. Saas, 118 Wn.2d 37, 820 P.2d 505 (1991)
State v. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d 163, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011)
State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)
State v. Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 925 P.2d 183 (1996)
Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Martinez, 161 Wn. App. 436, 253 P.3d 445 (2012)
United States Supreme Court
Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942)
Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985) 10
<u>Padilla v. Kentucky</u> , 559 U.S. 356, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010)

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657
(1984)9
Statutes
RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii)
Rules
CrR 4.2(f)
Washington Constitution
Const. art. I, § 22
United States Constitution
U.S. Const. amend VI

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mr.
 Nadif's motion to withdraw his plea of guilty.
- 2. In the absence of substantial evidence in the record, the trial court erred in finding that Mr. Nadif's trial attorney "clearly advised that it was a matter of 24 months or 10 years when deportation would occur." CP 35.

B. <u>ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

A defendant is denied his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel when his attorney fails to inform him that he is pleading guilty to a crime which is a deportable offense. Mr. Nadif pled guilty to an offense which renders him clearly deportable to the country of his birth, Somalia, and he later moved to withdraw his plea. Mr. Nadif testified his attorney never informed him he would be deported. Instead, his attorney testified he told him he might not be deported, due to the unstable political climate in his home country. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Nadif's motion to withdraw his guilty plea based on ineffective assistance of counsel?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Saciid Nadif was born in the war-torn country of Somalia and moved to the United States approximately 18 years ago. 3/7/14 RP 29-31. He immigrated with his siblings as a teenager, and obtained refugee status in Seattle; he has lived here ever since. Id. Mr. Nadif considers Seattle – and moreover, the United States — his home, and has no intention of returning to the dangers of his homeland. Id.

Following an argument with his wife on January 5, 2013, Mr.

Nadif was charged with one count of assault in the second degree,
domestic violence. CP 1-2. An enhancement was added because the
incident occurred while the couple's 11 year-old child was home.

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii); CP 1-2.

On October 17, 2013, Mr. Nadif pled guilty to the charge, in exchange for an agreed-on sentencing recommendation of 24 months incarceration: 9 months for the assault, and 15 months for the enhancement. 10/17/13 RP 3-16; CP 12-26.

On December 20, 2013, Mr. Nadif informed the trial court that he intended to move to withdraw his guilty plea, and new counsel was appointed. 12/20/13 RP 2-4; CP 90.

On March 7, 2014, an evidentiary hearing was held on the motion to withdraw the guilty plea. Mr. Nadif argued he should be permitted to withdraw his plea because his attorney had not informed him of the immigration consequences of his guilty plea. 3/7/14 RP 34, 39-40, 43-44. Mr. Nadif also argued that his plea had not been knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently entered. Id. at 39-42. Following an evidentiary hearing at which Mr. Nadif's former trial counsel and Mr. Nadif both testified, the trial court denied Mr. Nadif's motion. CP 34-36; 3/25/14 RP 4-6.

Mr. Nadif timely appeals. CP 47-49.

D. ARGUMENT

MR. NADIF'S GUILTY PLEA WAS INVALID, BECAUSE HIS ATTORNEY DID NOT ACCURATELY ADVISE HIM OF THE IMMIGRATION CONSEQUENCES OF HIS PLEA.

1. The trial court abused its discretion when it found that Mr. Nadif was adequately advised of the immigration consequences of his guilty plea and denied his motion to withdraw the plea for ineffective assistance of counsel.

Mr. Nadif was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel because his attorney's advice concerning the immigration consequences of his plea was misleading and confusing. Mr. Nadif would not have taken a guilty plea and risked deportation, had he understood the risks to his immigration status.

A trial court's order on a motion to withdraw a guilty plea or vacate a judgment is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. In re the Personal Restraint of Cadwallader, 155 Wn.2d 867, 879-80, 123 P.3d 456 (2005). A court abuses its discretion when an "order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." State v. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008) (internal citations omitted). A discretionary decision "is based 'on untenable grounds' or made 'for untenable reasons' if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard." Id. (internal citations and emphasis omitted).

Here, Mr. Nadif's motion was denied on untenable grounds, because the trial court's factual findings are unsupported by the record. The trial court found that Mr. Nadif's trial counsel had "clearly advised" him that "deportation would occur" if he entered a guilty plea. CP 35 (Findings of Fact, Line 8). This finding is not supported by the record, and is inconsistent with the evidence adduced at the evidentiary hearing.

Although Timothy Leary, Mr. Nadif's former trial attorney, testified that he had told appellant that he would be facing "immigration

consequences," Mr. Leary's testimony was ambiguous as to what he advised his client those consequences would be. 3/7/14 RP 14-16, 23-25. Mr. Leary testified that he assured Mr. Nadif that the United States "has, for a long period of time, elected to not deport its people ... who are residents or Somali citizens, same for Vietnam and same for a handful of other countries." Id. at 14 (emphasis added). Mr. Leary suggested Mr. Nadif could arrange a voluntary departure from the United States and return to Somalia. Id. Mr. Leary also discussed looking for an "immigration safe, immigration friendly" option for which Mr. Nadif to plead guilty. Id. at 15.

At the same evidentiary hearing, Mr. Nadif testified that he did not understand from his conversations with Mr. Leary that he was pleading guilty to a deportable offense. 3/7/14 RP 34. Mr. Nadif stated that he was concerned about immigration consequences, and that his attorney discussed the implications of a guilty plea on his green card. Id. at 32-33. Mr. Leary said he would consult an immigration attorney before proceeding further, but Mr. Leary never did so. Id.

Even more importantly, Mr. Leary's own testimony indicates how equivocal his advice was concerning the immigration consequences that

would befall appellant in "24 months or ten years." CP 35 (Findings of Fact, Line 8). Mr. Leary first testified as follows:

And what I said to him is that the driving concern that I had in this case was that, you know, he's going to be facing immigration consequences. The question is, do you face that in two years or do you face that in ten years, based on the State's representations that they would be seeking ten years [sic] exceptional sentence after trial.

3/7/14 RP 16 (emphasis added).

According to Mr. Leary, he never used the word "deportation" with his client – only "immigration consequences" – in advising him.

This testimony came immediately following Mr. Leary's testimony concerning his advice to Mr. Nadif regarding the United States policy not to deport its residents to Somalia. Id. at 14.

Mr. Leary next testified using the "two or ten years" phrase again, as follows:

I again reminded him of that [adverse immigration consequences], and would have referenced, but again, my prior point of, do you want to face <u>immigration</u> consequences in two years or do you want to face them in ten years, because there wasn't an option on the table that would have mitigated the <u>immigration consequences</u>.

Id. at 23 (emphasis added).

Again, Mr. Leary testified he used only the phrase "immigration consequences," and never used the word "deportation" in advising Mr.

Nadif. <u>Id</u>. at 23. Although Mr. Leary later asserted that Mr. Nadif was aware that this was a deportable offense, Mr. Leary equivocated in his testimony, quickly stating, "there were questions as to whether he would be, in fact, deported based on the lack of – the instability in Somalia, but that was a possibility." <u>Id</u>. at 25.

On this record, the trial court's findings are not based on substantial evidence, as the court specifically found, "Mr. Nadif was clearly advised that is [sic] was a matter of 24 months or 10 years when deportation would occur." CP 35 (Line 8) (emphasis added). The record reveals that trial counsel's advice to Mr. Nadif was anything but clear. The court's finding that Mr. Nadif was properly advised is therefore untenable, in light of trial counsel's equivocation and Mr. Nadif's testimony he was not advised he would be deported. Quismundo, 164 Wn.2d at 504; Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 373-74, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010); State v. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d 163, 175-76, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011); State v. Martinez, 161 Wn. App. 436, 441-42, 253 P.3d 445 (2012); see supra § 2.

2. A criminal defendant is deprived of his constitutional right to counsel where his attorney fails to inform him that he is pleading guilty to a crime which will result in his deportation.

Pursuant to CrR 4.2(f), a defendant may withdraw a plea of guilty "whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest injustice." A manifest injustice may be established in four non-exclusive ways under CrR 4.2(f): 1) denial of the effective assistance of counsel; 2) a plea not ratified by the defendant; 3) a plea that was involuntary; or 4) a breach of the plea agreement by the prosecutor. State v. Wakefield, 130 Wn.2d 464, 472, 925 P.2d 183 (1996) (citing State v. Saas, 118 Wn.2d 37, 42, 820 P.2d 505 (1991)) (internal citation omitted).

Here, Mr. Nadif moved to withdraw his guilty plea in order to correct a manifest injustice, based upon both the ineffective assistance of counsel, and the involuntariness of his plea. On appeal, he asserts exclusively that trial counsel's ineffectiveness created a manifest injustice, requiring relief. CrR 4.2(f); Padilla, 559 U.S. at 373-74; Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d. at 173-74.

¹ A "manifest injustice" must be "obvious, directly observable, overt [and] not obscure." <u>State v. Pugh</u>, 153 Wn. App. 569, 577, 222 P.3d 821 (2009).

It is well settled that a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend VI; Const. art. I, § 22; United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984); State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). "The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the 'ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution' to which they are entitled." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (quoting Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 276, 63 S.Ct. 236, 87 L.Ed.2d 268 (1942)).

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show: 1) his attorney's performance was deficient; and 2) the deficiency of the performance caused prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687; State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

In the context of a plea agreement, an attorney's performance may be deficient if he or she fails to inform a client whether a guilty plea carries a risk of deportation. <u>Padilla</u>, 559 U.S. at 373-74. Where the deportation consequence of a plea is clear, counsel has a duty to inform the client that the State is offering a plea to a deportable offense. <u>Id.</u> at

368-69. Where the immigration consequences are unclear, counsel must at least advise a noncitizen client that the charge may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences. <u>Id</u>. The fact that the standard plea form carries boilerplate warnings does not satisfy an attorney's obligations. <u>Sandoval</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 173-74; <u>Martinez</u>, 161 Wn. App. at 441-42.

To show prejudice, "a defendant challenging a guilty plea must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." In re Personal Restraint of Riley, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780-81, 863 P.2d 554 (1993) (citing Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985)). If a decision to reject the plea bargain "would have been rational under the circumstances," prejudice is established. Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d at 175 (citing Padilla, 559 U.S. at 372).

Mr. Nadif was deprived of his constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel because he was not adequately advised of the adverse immigration consequences of his guilty plea. The trial court abused its discretion by denying Mr. Nadif's motion to withdraw his plea; remand and reversal should be granted. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 373-74; Sandoval, 171 Wn.2d at 175-76; Martinez, 161 Wn. App. at 441-42.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Nadif asks this Court to reverse the order denying his motion to withdraw the guilty plea.

Respectfully submitted this 31st day of October, 2014.

JAN TRASEN - 41177

Washington Appellate Project - 91052

Attorney for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. SACIID NADIF, Appellant.		NO. 7	1802-9-I