A. ISSUES PRESENTED 

Appellant Nadif pled guilty to second-degree assault after being 

repeatedly advised by his attorney that it was a "deportable offense." He 

pled guilty to take advantage of the State's agreement to recommend a 

two-year exceptional sentence, instead of the ten-year exceptional 

sentence it planned to request after trial, and to take advantage of the 

State's agreement not to di.splay photographs of the victim's severe 

injuries at sentencing. Nadif later moved to withdraw his plea, claiming 

that his attorney did not tell him that deportation was "certain." He 

presented no evidence that certain deportation was a "truly clear" 

consequence to his guilty plea. Furthermore, he presented no evidence 

that had he been so advised, he would not have pled guilty and instead 

proceeded to trial. Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion to 

deny Nadirs motion to withdraw his guilty plea? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Saciid Nadifpled guilty in the King County Superior Court to 

Assault in the Second Degree - Domestic Violence, based on the brutal 

beating of his wife, Ashar Farah. CP 1-5, 12-25. Nadif also pled guilty to 

the aggravating factor that the offense occurred within the sight or sound 

of the couple's minor child. CP 1-2, 12-13,23. 
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Prior to sentencing, Nadifmoved to withdraw his guilty plea, 

alleging that his prior counsel, Timothy Leary, had performed deficiently 

for not advising him, "unequivocally ... that he will be deported without 

fail as a result of entering into this plea." 03/07114 RP 46 (emphasis 

added); see also CP 56 ("Mr. Leary failed to advise Mr. Nadif about the 

clear immigration consequence ofMr. Nadirs conviction - certain 

deportation."). Nadif alternatively argued that his plea was involuntary 

because he had not been informed of the "clear and irrevocable 

immigration consequence, deportation." 03/07114 RP 46; CP 57-59. 

After considering the briefing of the parties, testimony from both 

Nadif and Leary, and the arguments of counsel, the trial court denied 

Nadirs motion to withdraw his plea. CP 34-36; 03/24/14 RP 3-6. 

On April 4, 2014, the trial court imposed an exceptional sentence 

of 24 months of incarceration, as well as 18 months of community 

custody. CP 38, 40-41, 43-44; 04/02/2014 RP 6-7. Nadifnow appeals the 

denial of his motion to withdraw his guilty plea. CP 47-49. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS 
DISCRETION TO DENY NADIF'S MOTION TO 
WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA. 

Nadif alleges that the trial court abused its discretion when it 

denied his motion to withdraw his guilty plea based on ineffective 
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assistance of counsel.l Specifically, he contends that his attorney never 

informed him "he would be deported," and instead told him that he "might 

not be deported due to the unstable political climate in his home country." 

Brf. of App. at 1 (emphasis in original). However, the only "truly clear" 

immigration consequence to Nadifs plea was that the crime he pled guilty 

to is a "deportable" offense. Because Nadifs counsel properly advised 

him that his plea may subject him to deportation, the trial court properly 

denied Nadifs motion to withdraw his plea. 

A motion to withdraw a plea of guilty prior to judgment is 

governed by erR 4.2(f). That rule states, in pertinent part, that "[t]he 

court shall allow a defendant to withdraw the defendant's plea of guilty 

whenever it appears that the withdrawal is necessary to correct a manifest 

injustice." A defendant "has the burden of establishing a manifest 

injustice in light of all the surrounding facts of his case." State v. Dixon, 

38 Wn. App. 74, 76, 683 P.2d 1144 (1984). Proving a manifest injustice is 

a demanding standard, made so because of the many safeguards taken 

when a defendant enters a guilty plea. State v. Zhao, 157 Wn.2d 188, 197, 

137 P.3d 835 (2006); State v. Hystad, 36 Wn. App. 42, 45, 671 P.2d 793 

(1983). 

I On appeal, Nadif abandons his claim of involuntary plea. Brf. of App. at 8 ("On appeal, 
fNadifi asse l"ls exclusively that trial counsel's ineffectiveness created a manifest injustice, 
requiring relief'. " ). 
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A manifest injustice is one which is obvious, directly observable, 

overt, and not obscure. State v. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d 594, 596, 521 P.2d 699 

(1974). Four indicia of manifest injustice have been recognized by the 

Washington State Supreme Court: 1) the defendant was denied effective 

assistance of counsel; 2) the plea was not ratified by the defendant; 3) the 

plea was involuntary; 4) the plea agreement was not kept by the 

prosecution. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d at 597. 

A trial court's denial of a defendant's motion to withdraw his plea 

will be overturned only in the case of an abuse of discretion. State v. 

Marshall, 144 Wn.2d 266, 280-81, 27 P.3d 192 (2001), abrogated on other 

grounds by State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). 

A tri al court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable 

grounds or reasons, or when its decision is manifestly unreasonable. 

State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) . 

a. Additional Facts From The Hearing Below. 

After Nadif set his case for trial, he retained attorney Leary. rd. 

Leary discussed immigration issues with Nadif on multiple occasions. 

03 /07114 RP 24-25. Nadifinformed Leary that he was a citizen of 

Somalia, and that his green card had expired two years earlier. 03 /07114 

RP 12. Leary told Nadif that second-degree assault (especially with a 
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domestic violence allegation) was a crime subject to deportation. 

03 /07/14 RP 14, 24-25 . Leary also informed Nadifthat although the 

United States had elected not to deport Somali citizens for a period of 

time, that could change. Id. Leary made clear to Nadifthat the crime was 

a deportable offense, and that although there was a question as to whether 

he would actually be deported due to instability in Somalia, deportation 

was certainly a possibility. 03 /07114 RP 25. In fact, Nadifeven asked 

Leary about the option of simply leaving the country voluntarily and 

returning to Somalia, should he face deportation as a result of a plea. llL 

Nadif did not want to plead guilty to a felony, regardless of the 

immigration consequences. 03 /07114 RP 21 . However, the State refused 

Leary' s attempt to negotiate a reduced charge. 03 /07114 RP 19-20. Then, 

shortly before the matter was to begin trial, the State sent Leary a letter 

outlining its intent to seek an exceptional sentence often years following 

trial. 03 /07114 RP 20-21; Pretrial Ex. 4. The sentence recommendation 

would be based on the significant injuries that Nadif inflicted on his wife, 

as well as the fact that the assault occurred in front of the couple ' s young 

daughter. 03 /07114 RP 18-19; Pretrial Ex. 4. The State offered to make 

an agreed-upon exceptional sentencing recommendation of 24 months in 

exchange for Nadirs guilty plea prior to the start of trial. Id . At Leary's 

request , the State included in its plea offer an agreement not to display 
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photographs of the victim ' s injuries at the sentencing hearing. 03 /07114 

RP 21-22. The photographs depicted in graphic detail the substantial 

injuries Nadif's wife suffered at his hands. 03 /07114 RP 19; Pretrial Ex. 3. 

Nadifwas provided a written copy of the State's offer. 03 /07114 RP 20, 

42-43; Pretrial Ex. 4. 

Leary interviewed the victim, and based on that interview and all 

of the other evidence, he informed Nadif that he would face the 

immigration consequences they had discussed, be it 24 months from the 

date ofa plea, or in 10 years if the sentencing court followed the State's 

recommendation after trial. 03 /07114 RP 16-17, 22-23. 

On the morning of trial, Nadifagreed to accept the State ' s offer. 

03 /07/14 RP 22. Leary reviewed the guilty plea statement with Nadif, and 

specifically reminded him that the crime he was pleading to was a 

deportable offense. CP 12-24; 03 /07114 RP 22-25. Prior to that time, 

Leary had discussed the immigration issues with Nadif"at length." 

03 /07/ 14 RP 23. They had "frequent" and "multiple" conversations about 

the immigration consequences to the plea, including the impact to Nadif's 

green card and his possible deportation. 03 /07/14 RP 24-25 . Thus, 

according to Leary, the language on the plea statement about possible 

deportation and other immigration consequences "wasn't a surprise to 

[Nadit]," 03 /07/ 14 RP 23 . 
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Nadif testitied at the hearing to withdraw his plea. He claimed to 

have had only one discussion with Leary about immigration,2 and that 

during the discussion, Leary told him he would contact an immigration 

lawyer, but Nadifnever heard anything else about it. 03/07114 RP 32-33. 

Nadif claimed that at the time he entered the plea, he had never reviewed 

the discovery or evidence with Leary, that he "was confused and 

misinformed," and that he was "just signing papers" that he had not read 

or had read to him. 03/07114 RP 34. Nadif claimed that he had no 

memory of the prosecutor asking him questions about the guilty plea 

statement in court, and specifically, the portion of the form that advised 

him he could be deported as a result of the plea. 03 /07114 RP 39-40. 

Nadiftestified that he "probably wasn't paying attention about anything." 

~ He alleged that Leary never told him that he would "certainly be 

deported" as a result of the plea. Id. (emphasis added). 

b. The Trial Court Properly Concluded That Nadif 
Failed To Establish Ineffective Assistance Of 
Counsel. 

A criminal defendant has the right to effective assistance of 

counsel in the plea process. U.S. Const. amend. VI; In re Pers. Restraint 

of Riley, 122 Wn.2d 772, 780, 863 P.2d 554 (1993). Claims of ineffective 

" Nadir admitted that he had told Leary during that discussion that he knew the felony 
charge resulted in " immigration consequence[s]." 03 /07114 RP 32. 
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assistance of counsel in the plea bargaining context are governed by 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 

2d 674 (1984). The burden of establishing ineffective assistance of 

counsel falls on the defendant. Id. at 687. To prevail, a defendant must 

show that (I) his attorney's conduct fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness and (2) this deficiency resulted in prejudice. Id. at 687-88; 

State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). In this 

context, prejudice exists only if the defendant can demonstrate that there is 

a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's en-ors, he would not have 

pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 

474 U.S. 52, 59,106 S. Ct. 366,88 L. Ed. 2d 203 (1985); Riley, 122 

Wn.2d at 780-81. 

If the defendant fails to establish either prong of the Strickland test, 

the inquiry ends. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 

(1996). Courts presume that counsel has provided effective representation 

and are "highly deferential" when scrutinizing counsel's performance. 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. 

1. Nadif failed to establish deficient 
performance. 

In Padilla v. Kentucky, the Supreme Court held that in order to 

provide effective assistance of counsel, defense counsel must advise a 
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noncitizen client regarding the risk of deportation. u.s. ,130 S. Ct. 

1473, 1482, 176 L. Ed. 2d 284 (2010). Recognizing that immigration law is 

complex, the Court acknowledged that in most situations the deportation 

consequences are uncertain. rd. at 1483. The Court concluded that, "When 

the law is not succinct and straightforward. . . a criminal defense attorney 

need do no more than advise a noncitizen client that pending criminal 

charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences." rd. When 

the "deportation consequence is truly clear," the duty is to give correct 

advice. kl 

Thus, deficient performance can be established by showing that: 

1) the deportation consequences are truly clear and counsel gave the 

defendant incorrect advice; or 2) the deportation consequences are uncertain 

and counsel failed to advise the client that the conviction could carry a risk 

of adverse immigration consequences. kl See also State v. Sandoval, 171 

Wn.2d 163, 172,249 PJd 1015 (2011). 

The record establishes that the only "truly clear" immigration 

consequence ofNadif's plea is that a conviction for second-degree assault 

with a domestic violence allegation may subject a defendant to deportation 
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proceedings. 3 03/07/14 RP 14. The court properly exercised its discretion 

when it concluded that Leary properly advised Nadif. 

Nadifcompleted the lih grade. CP 12; 10117113 RP 4. He signed 

the Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty, indicating that "My lawyer 

has explained to me, and we have fully discussed all of the above 

paragraphs. I understand them all. I have been given a copy of this 

' Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty .'" CP 24. At the plea hearing, 

Nadif affirmed that he had gone through the entire document with his 

lawyer, and that he understood all of it. 10117/13 RP 3. Leary also signed 

the plea statement, attesting that "I have read and discussed this statement 

with the defendant and believe that the defendant is competent and fully 

understands the statement." Id . Included in the plea statement was the 

following provision: 

If I am not a citizen of the United States, a plea of guilty to an 
offense punishable as a crime under state law is grounds for 
deportation, exclusion from admission to the United States, or 
denial of naturalization pursuant to the laws of the United 
States. 

CP 20. This statement was read aloud to Nadif in open court, who 

unequivocally stated that he understood it. 10117113 RP 8-9. Moreover, 

Nadifs attorney affirmed to the court that he had "consulted with 

} Although no evidence of this fact was presented beyond Leary's testimony, the parties 
do not appear to have disagreed that second-degree assault is a "deportable offense," and 
the State has no basis to contest such fact on appeal. 
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Mr. Nadif about any adverse immigration consequences that may follow 

conviction." 10117113 RP 12. Thus, it is clear that Nadif was informed 

that his plea of guilty was grounds for his deportation. 

Moreover, at the motion to withdraw the plea, Leary testified that 

he informed Nadifthat the crime was a deportable offense on mUltiple 

occasions prior to the plea: 

I let him know that, you know, an assault 2 is something 
that, especially when there's a domestic violence allegation 
with it, is subject to deportation. 

03 /07114 RP 14. See also 03 /07114 RP 24 ("[T]here were frequent 

conversations about the impact on his green card, his ability to stay in the 

country, and whether or not he would be sent back to SomaJia, and 

whether he could return voluntarily") . The prosecutor asked Leary: 

Q: [W]ere you basically telling him that he would in 
fact - that this is a deportable offense? 

A: Yeah, I did. And when I say ten years, I wasn't 
like, you know, you're going to get ten years, I said, 
you know, there's a significant risk that you could 
get ten years based on what happens. And so, yes, 
I mean, he was aware that this was a deportable 
offense, and that there were questions as to whether 
he would be, in fact, deported based on the lack of -
the instability in Somalia, but that was a possibility. 

Q: And that's a discussion you had with him? 

A: Yes, on multiple occasions. 

- 11 -
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03/07114 RP 24-25. The trial court found Leary's testimony credible, 

concluding that Leary "specifically advised Mr. Nadif [the charge he pled 

to] was a deportable offense." CP 35; 03/24/ 14 RP 4. Based on the 

evidence, this Court cannot say that the lower court abused its discretion 

when concluding that Nadifwas properly advised that he was pleading 

guilty to a deportable offense. 

Moreover, the trial court found that Nadif was not credible, and 

rejected his testimony as "completely contradict[ing] everything that he 

himself said in court [at the time of his plea]." CP 35; 03 /24/14 RP 5. 

Credibility determinations are strictly within the province of the trial court 

and are not reviewable on appeal. State v. Teshome, 122 Wn. App. 706, 

715 , 94 P.3d 1004 (2004) (citing State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 

794 P.2d 850) (1990)). Because Nadifproduced nothing to support his 

motion other than his own self-serving statements that the trial court found 

not credible, Nadif failed to meet his burden to prove deficient 

performance. See State v. Cervantes, 169 Wn. App. 428,434,282 P.3d 98 

(2012) (self-serving assertions lacking corroboration are insufficient to 

establish deticient performance). 

Although Nadif argued below that Leary was ineffective for failing 

to unequivocally advise him that he would be deported without fail as a 

result of entering the plea, 03 /07114 RP 46, he presented no evidence to 
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support his claim that certain deportation was a "truly clear" immigration 

consequence. Moreover, Nadirs argument on appeal is not clear about 

what specific immigration consequences he believes Leary was required to 

have provided advice about and either neglected to provide, or misadvised 

him of.4 See Brf. of App. at 3 (arguing only that the advice was 

"misleading and confusing"); Brf. of App. at 5 (arguing only that 

counsel's advice was "ambiguous"). Nadif's generalizations are 

inadequate to establish a basis for relief. 

Nadif argues that the court's factual finding that he "was clearly 

advised that it was a matter of 24 months or 10 years when deportation 

would occur" lacks sufficient support in the record. While Nadif is 

technically correct that Leary never told him that deportation would occur, 

it is of no importance. Leary was under no obligation to tell Nadif when 

or if deportation would definitely occur, because such a consequence to his 

plea was not "truly clear." All that was required of Leary was to advise 

Nadifthat a plea to second-degree assault could result in his deportation. 

Thus, the finding Nadif complains of has no relevance. The pertinent 

4 Nadif repeatedly alleges that Leary testified he never used the word "deportation" 
during his discussions with his client, and that he only used the phrase "immigration 
consequences" when advising Nadif. Brf. of App. at 6-7. However, Leary specifically 
testified that he told Nadifthat a plea to second-degree assault "is subject to 
deportation." 03 /07 / 14 RP 14 (emphasis added). He also testified that he told Nadif"on 
multiple occasions," that the crime was a "deportable offense." 03 /07114 RP 24-25. 
Thus, Nadirs assertions that Leary never used the word "deportation" in his discussions 
with Nadifare inaccurate. 
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finding by the trial court is that Leary informed Nadifthat the offense was 

a deportable one. CP 35 (line 9); 03/24114 RP 4 (lines 23-24). The record 

provides ample support for that finding. 

The trial court's determination that Nadiffailed to establish 

deficient performance was a proper exercise of discretion. Nadirs claim 

that he was not properly advised as to the "truly clear" immigration 

consequences of his plea is meritless. 

11. Nadiffailed to establish prejudice. 

As noted above, in order to establish the prejudice prong under 

Strickland, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that had 

he been given appropriate advice, he would not have pleaded guilty and 

would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. at 59; 

Riley, 122 Wn.2d at 780-81. A defendant must "convince the court that a 

decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the 

circumstances." Padilla, 130 S. Ct. at 1485. Although Nadifalleges on 

appeal that he "would not have taken a guilty plea and risked deportation, 

had he understood the risks to his immigration status," Brf. of App. at 4, his 

claim is unsupported by the record and implausible. 

First, as noted above, it is unclear exactly what "risks to his 

immigration status" Nadif believes that Leary should have advised him of, 
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but either failed to or provided misadvise about. Additionally, Nadif 

presented no evidence that he would not have pled guilty had he been so 

advised. Nadirs attorney alleged below that "Nadifwill testify at the 

evidentiary hearing that - had he been informed and fully understood that 

he would be deported as a result of his this [sic] conviction, he would have 

decided to proceed to trial." CP 56. However, despite his attorney's 

assertions, Nadif never testified to anything of the sort, nor did he sign any 

affidavit stating as much. 03/07114 RP 29-45. The record is utterly 

devoid of any evidence of prejudice to N adif. 

Moreover, it is clear that Nadif pled guilty solely to minimize his 

incarceration time, because absent an unlikely acquittal, he had no ability 

to alter the immigration consequences he faced. See 03/07114 RP 23 

(Leary testified that "there wasn't an option on the table that would have 

mitigated the immigration consequences. "). Up until the day of trial, 

Nadif did not want to plead guilty "regardless of immigration 

consequences." 03/07114 RP 21. What appears to have finally convinced 

Nadifto change his mind was the threat of the prosecutor to seek a ten

year exceptional sentence. See 03/07114 RP 43 (Nadif testified that "I was 

thinking about the ten years more than 1 was thinking about the 

immigration status. "). 
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Leary informed Nadif that he would be facing the same 

immigration consequences - possible deportation - in either two years 

(pursuant to the plea) or potentially in ten years (following a trial). 

03 /07/14 RP 16,22-23,24-25. Based on his investigation of the case, 

including an interview with the victim, Leary appropriately advised Nadif 

that it was in his best interest to avoid having the sentencing judge see 

damaging photographs that depicted the horrific injuries that Nadif 

inflicted upon his wife in the presence of their young child. 03/07114 RP 

16-22: Pretrial Ex. 3. Under the plea, the State agreed it would not display 

the photographs at sentencing, and it would recommend only a two-year 

sentence. 03/07114 RP 21; Pretrial Ex. 4. From this, it is clear that 

Nadirs decision to plead had nothing to do with Leary's advice regarding 

immigration consequences, and had everything to do with his desire to 

avoid a harsher sentence. 

Nadif failed to establish that a decision to reject the plea bargain 

would have been rational under the circumstances. Because there was no 

evidence of prejudice under Strickland, the trial court properly denied 

Nadirs motion to withdraw his plea for ineffective assistance of counsel. 
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D. CONCLUSION 

Based on the above arguments, this Court should conclude that the 

trial court properly exercised its discretion when it determined that Nadif 

had not met his burden to establish a manifest injustice warranting 

withdrawal of his plea.